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          1  SMALL BUSINESS AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Good afternoon,

          3  ladies and gentlemen.  My name is Thomas White, Jr.,

          4  Chair of the Economic Development Committee.  I'd

          5  like to welcome you to the Committee's Hearing,

          6  along with the Chair of Small Business, Council

          7  Member Yassky, who should be arriving shortly.

          8  Currently present is my colleagues, Council Member

          9  Diana Reyna and Council Member Palma.

         10                 Good afternoon.  We're here today to

         11  hear from the Office of Manufacturing and Industrial

         12  Businesses to receive an update on the management

         13  and progress of New York City's Empire Zone Program.

         14                 As you will recall, the Economic

         15  Development Committee held a Hearing on February

         16   '06 to discuss the Empire Zone Program changes and

         17  more recently, on the Empire Zone boundary changes.

         18  We look forward to hearing more about how these

         19  changes have benefitted small businesses in our

         20  City.

         21                 The first person that I would like to

         22  call upon would be the Director of the Mayor's

         23  Office of Industrial Business, Mr. Hum.  Mr. Hum?

         24                 MR. HUM:  Good afternoon Chairman

         25  White.  Good afternoon Members of the Committee on
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          2  Economic Development and Small Businesses.  My name

          3  is Carl Hum.  I am the Director at the Mayor's

          4  Office of Industrial and Manufacturing Businesses.

          5  I am pleased to testify before the Committees today

          6  in regard to Regionally Significant Projects, that

          7  particular component of the Empire State Program of

          8  the State of New York.

          9                 I know that in recent weeks, there

         10  has been some focus that's been placed on the Empire

         11  Zone Program, as in its whole entirety.  While there

         12  is always room for improvement, the Empire Zone,

         13  from an economic development perspective, has been

         14  nothing but a powerful tool to spur business growth

         15  and job development in New York City.

         16                 As we speak today, New York City

         17  businesses are collecting approximately $55 million

         18  in state tax credits from the Empire Zone Program.

         19  Since the Empire Zone Program has been authorized, a

         20  mere eight months ago, with this Committee's help,

         21  with every Member around this table's valid and

         22  valuable support and the overwhelming support from

         23  the City Council as a whole, my office has

         24  certified, or helped certify 99 businesses, most of

         25  which are manufacturing and industrial companies
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          2  that, for the most part, employ lesser skilled New

          3  Yorkers and New Yorkers with limited English

          4  proficiency.

          5                 These companies that we have

          6  certified are projecting to invest over $114 million

          7  in private investment and capital investment,

          8  meaning, buildings, infrastructure and equipment to

          9  help them grow their businesses.  More importantly,

         10  these businesses are projecting to employ 2,700 more

         11  New Yorkers because of these investments.

         12                 For the most part, our certified

         13  companies are local, home- grown small businesses.

         14  I'll give you a few examples.  Twin Marquis in the

         15  East Williamsburg section of Brooklyn, Councilwoman

         16  Reyna, and the small businesses in the Fulton Fish

         17  Market in Hunts Point.  Just the other day, I had

         18  the pleasure of chairing the Hunts Point Zone Board

         19  meeting and we had certified our 18th fish seller,

         20  wholesaler in the market. That represents now over

         21  half of the businesses in the Hunts Point, rather

         22  the Fulton Fish Market, Hunts Point, having

         23  certified for Empire Zone benefits.

         24                 What that means is that had these

         25  businesses stayed in Lower Manhattan, they would

                                                            7

          1  SMALL BUSINESS AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  never have been eligible for these benefits.  Now,

          3  because of the Administration's superior economic

          4  development planning, we've been able to focus these

          5  credits towards these businesses.

          6                 A few other examples of some of these

          7  small, home grown businesses also include Abco

          8  Maintenance in the North Shore of Staten Island and

          9  the favorite of favorites of small home grown

         10  businesses, Rao's in East Harlem.  Rao's Specialty

         11  Goods, making sauces, making pastas and everything

         12  else are also one of the Zone certified businesses.

         13                 These businesses and like, and the

         14  many others that have been certified by the Empire

         15  Zone Program have thrived, have grown under this

         16  program.  But, what about those small businesses

         17  that are outside of the Empire Zone Program or

         18  rather outside of the zones?  As you know, there are

         19  11 zones throughout the City and they have very

         20  specific boundaries, as you well know Chairman

         21  White, from your great work in supporting the

         22  reauthorization bill.

         23                 Thanks to a provision within the

         24  Empire Zone Program, businesses outside the Empire

         25  Zones can now tap into valuable state tax credits,
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          2  such as the Wage Tax Credit, Real Property Tax

          3  Credits, and Investment Tax Credits, to name but a

          4  few.  But, like anything else, there's a catch.  The

          5  businesses, in addition to being in a position of

          6  growth must also be within a particular category or

          7  a particular classification.

          8                 The businesses must either be one, a

          9  manufacturer creating 50 or more full- time jobs,

         10  and the definition, again, manufacturing is pretty

         11  wide in that it includes food manufacturing to metal

         12  processors.  Second category is an agriculture high-

         13  tech or biotech company creating 20 jobs and making

         14  an investment of at least $10 million.  The third

         15  category is a financial institution, an insurance

         16  institution or distribution center, creating 300 or

         17  more jobs.

         18                 The final, definitive category is a

         19  clean energy research development enterprise.  I say

         20  definitive because there is a fifth category of

         21  other, which has yet to be clearly defined by the

         22  state and we certainly look forward to guidance from

         23  the state and clarification from the state as to

         24  what that other category will mean.

         25                 Nonetheless, over 90 Regionally
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          2  Significant Projects have been designated throughout

          3  New York State, from the town of Islip to Rochester,

          4  New York.  Some examples of these projects include

          5  food manufacturers like the Silver Lake Cookie

          6  Company to the Orange County Choppers of TLC fame.

          7                 However, to ensure a balanced

          8  approach in designating a Regionally Significant

          9  Project, the State Legislature has created a multi-

         10  step process that involves the state, the local

         11  legislature and environmental impact reviews.

         12                 On a very, very broad level, the,

         13  once an applicant business has received the

         14  necessary support from the state and an

         15  environmental assessment has been completed, local

         16  legislation must then be introduced to bring the

         17  applicant business into a certain adopting Empire

         18  Zone.  The approved local law then becomes part of

         19  an overall designation package that will go to the

         20  state and would also include a project description

         21  and other supporting documents.  Final

         22  determination, like anything else that is involved

         23  with the Empire Zone Program, is vested with the

         24  Empire State Development Corporation.

         25                 To date, New York City has not
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          2  designated a Regionally Significant Project, but we

          3  are well- positioned to do so.  Since the

          4  reauthorization of the Program eight months ago, we

          5  have reconstituted and re- energized once dormant

          6  Local Zone Boards with your help and with your

          7  representation on these Boards.  More importantly,

          8  we have re- established a productive relationship

          9  with the Empire State Development Corporation.  We

         10  look forward to now working with the Council in

         11  identifying and designating growing businesses

         12  throughout New York City as Regionally Significant

         13  Projects.

         14                 I want to thank you for your time and

         15  your attention in allowing me to talk about

         16  Regionally Significant Projects and the Empire Zones

         17  as a whole.  I'd be more than happy to answer any

         18  questions you may have.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Do we have a copy

         20  of your prepared statement?

         21                 MR. HUM:  I do and I apologize for

         22  not giving that out ahead of time.  I just wanted to

         23  surprise you with what I was going to say.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Oh, that's nice.

         25  It worked. You had mentioned $55 million has been
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          2  received in revenue as a result of the Empire Zone

          3  Program.

          4                 MR. HUM:  It's not revenue, it is

          5  actually state tax credits.  The way that the Empire

          6  Zone Program works is that once you are certified,

          7  there are certain credits that you may receive off

          8  of your state tax liability.  So, let's take, for

          9  example, the wage tax credit.  The standard

         10  deduction from the Empire Zone Program is $1,500.00

         11  per employee.  So, if you have ten employees, you

         12  know, your deduction on the state tax liability will

         13  be $15,000.00 off of your tax liability.  If your

         14  tax liability is, if you had no tax liability, all

         15  those credits can be rolled over into the next year.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  So, you're saying

         17  the $55 million is a benefit to the businesses?

         18                 MR. HUM:  That's right.  I mean it's

         19  basically $55 million in taxes they're not paying.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay.  Could you

         21  describe the intent and purpose of the Regionally

         22  Significant Project program?

         23                 MR. HUM:  Sure.  The intent and the

         24  significance of the Regionally Significant Project

         25  really is to recognize projects that will have
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          2  significant economic development impact that may

          3  not, that may occur outside the Empire Zones.  I

          4  think that from a state perspective, they want to

          5  encourage those kinds of projects.  If they can

          6  encourage them by extending Empire Zone benefits,

          7  then that's certainly, you know, why not do it.

          8                 Also, again, you know, within the

          9  spirit of the Empire Zone Program, you know, as a

         10  whole, they are targeting these projects in the

         11  specific categories that I talked about,

         12  manufacturing, agriculture, finance and also clean

         13  energy.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  One other

         15  question.  Why has New York City not identified any

         16  Regionally Significant Projects to date?  Is this

         17  due to the lack of land limitation?

         18                 MR. HUM:  It's not so much the lack

         19  of land.  I, you know, I know a couple of businesses

         20  that certainly are interested in being designated as

         21  Regionally Significant Projects.  I think it's a

         22  matter of just getting the mechanism down.

         23                 As I mentioned before, since

         24  reauthorization eight months ago, and mind you, my

         25  office assumes responsibility for the Empire Zone
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          2  Program.  In early 2006, you know, we spent a lot of

          3  time just getting things back in order, getting

          4  things right, essentially.  There were a lot of

          5  changes that occurred because of the state, the

          6  state regional, the state's revamping of the program

          7  in 2005.

          8                 So, we had to sort of get our house

          9  in order because of those changes on the state

         10  level, which included redrawing boundaries, which

         11  included basically resubmitting to the state an

         12  application for each Empire Zone and adding

         13  justification for it, which included exhaustive

         14  studies on current poverty levels, income levels and

         15  other demographics in that package.  That was an

         16  effort, as you well know, was Herculean and given

         17  my, you know, our limited resources, we certainly

         18  put the pedal to the metal with getting that

         19  reauthorization and making sure that those

         20  boundaries made sense.

         21                 I had spent the better part of last

         22  summer with most of the folks on this Committee,

         23  ensuring that the boundaries made sense, ensuring

         24  that if we were going to redraw this, that it be

         25  focused towards small businesses.
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          2                 So, Chairman White, I guess that's a

          3  long answer to, it's a long way to answer your

          4  question of why we haven't designated a Regionally

          5  Significant Project is, quite simply, is that we

          6  have to get our house in order before we take on the

          7  next piece.  As I mentioned in my testimony, we are

          8  certainly well positioned to do that now.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  How much money

         10  does the City contribute to this program?

         11                 MR. HUM:  The City provides a

         12  matching funds to this program.  The state provides,

         13  the City matches what the state gives in terms of

         14  administering this program.  Currently, that figure

         15  is in the area of around $330,000.00.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  $330,000.00?

         17                 MR. HUM:  For 11 Empire Zones,

         18  correct.  We give a match of $330,000.00.  So, in

         19  toto, it's $660,000.00.  You have to keep in mind

         20  though, Chairman, that New York City in many, many

         21  respects and in many other instances, is not like

         22  the others.  I say that because in other localities,

         23  in other municipalities that have Empire Zone, the

         24  Empire Zone Program, the Program is actually

         25  administered by the locality.
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          2                 So, take, for instance, Erie County.

          3  You know, their Department of Economic Development

          4  or their equivalent of Small Business Services or

          5  EDC, or whatever it may be, actually administers the

          6  program, meaning that they go out door- to- door,

          7  making sure the certifications happened and making

          8  sure that they're in compliance.

          9                 We don't do that.  We contract it out

         10  to local groups to local, LDCs, such as Hunts Point

         11  EDC, such as Sopro (phonetic) and such as a

         12  Southwest Brooklyn industrial development

         13  corporation to do that work.  So, in a way, you

         14  really can't meet the comparison of how New York

         15  City runs its programs versus everyone else.

         16                 I think, at the state, from a state

         17  perspective, with regards to how much money that

         18  they give, I think that if I was the state, I would

         19  argue that, well, you know, we're giving you x

         20  amount, millions of dollars in state tax credits,

         21  you can pony up the staff, you can pony up the

         22  resources to make sure that these tax credits are

         23  tapped into.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay.  Any of my

         25  colleagues, would you like to?  Council Member
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          2  Reyna.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  I just have a

          4  question, in regards to the Empire Zone in North

          5  Brooklyn.  You know, since the most recent

          6  development as far as Pfizer plant closing and it

          7  being part of the Empire Zone, correct me if I'm

          8  wrong.  I remember that being part of it or it

          9  wasn't?

         10                 MR. HUM:  If you'll allow me to sort

         11  of lean over to my Empire Zone expert, that is not,

         12  I think it was  --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  So it's  --

         14                 MR. HUM:  It's seems that they were

         15  never Empire Zone certified.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Okay, so maybe

         17  it was me pushing Pfizer to be part of Empire Zone

         18  in my head.  So, I'll refer my question to, now that

         19  it's not part of the Empire Zone and the closing of

         20  the plant, what could be the future use of this

         21  particular property?  And, in relation to the Empire

         22  Zone, trying to get new industry into that piece of

         23  property that will be conducive in new employment

         24  opportunities to replace what we're losing  --

         25                 MR. HUM:  Sure.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  --  That

          3  affects, you know, not just one community, but

          4  several communities.  We're talking about Bedford

          5  Stuyvesant, Williamsburg, Greenpoint, Bushwick and

          6  so forth.

          7                 MR. HUM:  Yeah.  You know, as to the

          8  future use of the Pfizer plant, there are folks who

          9  are better positioned that I to answer that.

         10  Certainly, my office is at the table during those

         11  discussions, but I think that, you know, it's a

         12  larger discussion that, quite frankly, I am not in a

         13  position to talk about.

         14                 But, whatever it may be, though, in

         15  terms of perhaps being of manufacturing use,

         16  certainly the designation of it being a Regionally

         17  Significant Project is available.  That goes to your

         18  question with regards to other areas in North

         19  Brooklyn that are not included within the Empire

         20  Zone Program, or within, I should say, within the

         21  boundaries.  The focus and the purpose of the

         22  Regionally Significant Projects is to extend the

         23  Empire Zone benefits to businesses that are outside

         24   --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Right.
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          2                 MR. HUM:  --  Of the boundaries.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  So, you think

          4  that there could be an opportunity where the Pfizer

          5  plant property could be included in the Empire Zone

          6  Program hence an expansion of the lines?

          7                 MR. HUM:  We're not looking to redraw

          8  the lines. We just, we just went through that last

          9  November and I think that, you know, from, you well

         10  know, that was quite a task to do. What we could do,

         11  though, you know, with regards to Pfizer, other

         12  properties around, outside of the Zone or outside of

         13  the boundaries, is possibly seek designation for

         14  them as a Regionally Significant Project if they

         15  fall within the four categories I talked about.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Right.  You

         17  know, my concern is that in order to attract

         18  industry into that property, incentives need to be

         19  in place.  So, there's no longer the Empire Zone to

         20  attract, so  --

         21                 MR. HUM:  Yeah.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  --  What else

         23  do we have to attract occupancy into this building?

         24  Obviously, it's a privately owned facility, but it

         25  was built with IDA bonds and so the City still has a
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          2  stake in order to preserve the space and get it to

          3  what was once a booming industry.

          4                 MR. HUM:  You know, again, I think

          5  that there are still discussions as to, you know,

          6  what the future use of it is going to be.

          7  Certainly, you know, there's implications in that

          8  there was a facility that was built with IDA

          9  assistance.  Again, the, I'm not in a position to

         10  sort of answer right now as to like what it's going

         11  to be.  I think that certainly with your leadership,

         12  with your help in trying to think creatively about

         13  what the possibilities could lay there, we could, in

         14  addition to any other As of Right Programs, perhaps,

         15  you know, we can start thinking about it, start

         16  talking about exploring other incentives or other

         17  programs.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  So, just to be

         19  very clear, as long as the business meets any one of

         20  the four criteria mentioned, it can qualify for

         21  other valuable state tax credits, such as Wage Tax

         22  Credit, Real Property Tax Credit, Investment Tax

         23  Credits?

         24                 MR. HUM:  Yup and that's all, that's,

         25  those are the suite of tax credits that are offered
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          2  through the Empire Zone Program.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Mr. Hum, I'm

          6  finding it difficult to understand that property of

          7  this magnitude, you're not part of any discussion,

          8  it's not designated by the IBZ that's sitting there

          9  and you, have you been in any kind of discussion

         10  with the possibility of the future use of this land?

         11                 MR. HUM:  You're talking about the

         12  Pfizer site?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Yes.

         14                 MR. HUM:  I think that there are

         15  discussions as, that are going on right now in

         16  trying to figure out exactly what the possible use

         17  could be there  --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  What do you

         19  think the possible uses could be?

         20                 MR. HUM:  Are you asking me as a, as

         21  Carl Hum or as a member of the Administration?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  As a member of

         23  the Administration.

         24                 MR. HUM:  As I said, as I said to

         25  Council Member Reyna, I think that there are, there
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          2  are certainly discussions that include the Council,

          3  that include a lot of other stakeholders with

          4  regards to what the possible uses are that I'm not

          5  in the best position to answer.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Well, when you

          7  say you're not in the best position to answer, I

          8  understand that answer.  But, that doesn't answer

          9  the fact of whether or not you're in the best

         10  position to know.  You can know and not want to

         11  answer.  Now, which one is it, Hum or your official

         12  capacity?

         13                 MR. HUM:  The possibilities that are

         14  out there, I think, we all know are, everyone in

         15  this room knows what it is. I think that, you know,

         16  is it, does it stay manufacturing, does housing go

         17  there because we are in a particular situation where

         18  we are a growing City?  It's an opportunity, really,

         19  to address a lot of the pressing needs that this

         20  City has and more importantly, to what the community

         21  has.  Is it responsible commercial development

         22  there?  Is it responsible retail development there?

         23  You know, the, certainly, the, I don't hold a

         24  monopoly on what the possible uses are.  Everyone

         25  here knows what they are and I think that, you know,
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          2  what's most important is that we work together and

          3  that we think creatively as to  --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  We  --

          5                 MR. HUM:  --  What it will be.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  --  Can all work

          7  together -               MR. HUM:  Yeah.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  --  And we will

          9  work together, but we need to know what we're

         10  working together on.  So, you know, if you have no

         11  idea, all right, we're asking for that idea, so that

         12  we can work on it together, but we're  --  let me

         13  ask you, what about housing or condos?

         14                 MR. HUM:  What about them?  I am  --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Is that a

         16  possible use?

         17                 MR. HUM:  It's a certain, I mean,

         18  it's a possibility like anything is a possibility.

         19  Possibilities are endless.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Well, let me ask

         21  Hum.  Mr. Hum --

         22                 MR. HUM:  Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  --  What are the

         24  possibilities? Taking you out of your official

         25  capacity.
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          2                 MR. HUM:  You know, from where I sit,

          3  I advocate for the industrial manufacturing

          4  community.  You know, from where I sit, I would love

          5  to see more space for our industrial community, for

          6  our manufacturers.  But, my voice is one among many,

          7  including the Council, including the other people

          8  around the table, from the Administration and also

          9  the housing advocates and the community as well.

         10  But, you know, you know that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  I appreciate your

         12  candor and I understand the position that you're in,

         13  but you also have to understand that position that

         14  we're in.

         15                 MR. HUM:  Uh- huh.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  So, that being

         17  the case, I appreciate your answer.  I would like to

         18  now turn to the Chair of SBS, my colleague, Mr.

         19  David Yassky.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Thank you Mr.

         21  Chair and thank you very much for holding this

         22  Hearing and taking the laboring oar, as they say,

         23  and doing the work for it, I appreciate it and

         24  particularly getting it started off to a good start

         25  while I was delayed.
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          2                 First of all, Carl, I have not spoken

          3  to you since the news of your new appointment,

          4  congratulations  --

          5                 MR. HUM:  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  --  I don't know

          7  if  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  What appointment?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  He is being lost

         10  to the City, but a gain to Brooklyn.  Mr. Hum will

         11  be the President, I don't know, Executive Director

         12  or President?

         13                 MR. HUM:  Presidency, if you want to

         14  be  --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  -- And CEO  --

         16                 MR. HUM:  --  Politically  --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  --  Of the

         18  Brooklyn Chamber of Commerce, starting, I don't know

         19  when, but  --

         20                 MR. HUM:  After Labor Day.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  --  Soon.

         22  Pardon?

         23                 MR. HUM:  After Labor Day.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Starting after

         25  Labor Day, so --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Congratulations.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  --

          4  Congratulations to you and congratulations to those

          5  of us who live in Brooklyn and the Brooklyn

          6  businesses that you'll be serving.  I think that's

          7  terrific.

          8                 MR. HUM:  Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  On the

         10  Regionally  --

         11                 MR. HUM:  Significant Projects.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Significant and

         13  important Projects, I just wasn't clear, have any

         14  businesses applied to be Regionally Significant

         15  Projects in the City?

         16                 MR. HUM:  There has been one project

         17  that was supported by the Local Zone Board and did

         18  receive initial support from the state to go forward

         19  and to start exploring being designated as a

         20  Regionally Significant Project.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  But?  Is there a

         22  but or that's still in progress?

         23                 MR. HUM:  It's still in progress.

         24  You know, it's something that I hope to work on in

         25  my, the last four weeks that I have with the
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          2  Administration to advance.  The  --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  And why only

          4  one?  I mean, what kind of outreach are we doing and

          5  do we need to be doing to get, I mean, our Chambers

          6  of Commerce in, I guess, you know, Brooklyn will be,

          7  you know, have you engaged Chambers of Commerce in

          8  really promoting this to their members?  What are we

          9  doing to make sure people out there know this is

         10  available? Because my guess is they may not.

         11                 MR. HUM:  Yeah, we rely primarily on

         12  the local coordinators to promote the program and

         13   --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  What do you mean

         15  the local coordinators?

         16                 MR. HUM:  The Local Zone

         17  Coordinators.  We have 11 LZCs that actually

         18  administer the program, they administer the Empire

         19  Zones.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Do they cover,

         21  but these are available to businesses outside the

         22  Empire Zones.

         23                 MR. HUM:  Right, right.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  So, what  --

         25                 MR. HUM:  And let me finish my
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          2  answer, is that any time, you know, we know of a

          3  business that is growing or that is thinking about

          4  relocating, we certainly think about, is the, the

          5  possibility of using Regionally Significant Project

          6  designation.

          7                 My office, on a daily basis, gets a

          8  lot of, you know, I don't know what the exact number

          9  of calls are, but in terms of the past couple of

         10  months, we get, I would dare to say hundreds of

         11  calls from businesses who are looking to relocate,

         12  looking to expand.  Certainly, we share that

         13  information with Business Solutions component from

         14  SBS and share the fact that RSP designation could be

         15  applicable.

         16                 So, in regards to sort of thinking

         17  about current cases, you know, that, it is part of

         18  our tool kit with regards to trying to figure out

         19  how to help a business that's going to grow to

         20  expand.

         21                 The marketing end, Councilman, with

         22  regards to, you know, putting flyers out or

         23  something to that effect  --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  I guess, make

         25  sure it's written up in the newsletter, the Chamber
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          2  of Commerce newsletters, maybe in trade

          3  associations.  I mean, if there have been 90

          4  Regionally Significant Projects in the rest of the

          5  state and we haven't done any, there must, you know,

          6  our economy is generally thought to be growing

          7  faster than  --

          8                 MR. HUM:  Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  --  The rest of

         10  the state, so there must be businesses here that

         11  qualify and they just, they don't know about it or

         12  they're daunted maybe by the paperwork, whatever it

         13  is.

         14                 MR. HUM:  Yeah, that could very well

         15  be the case. I mean, you know, we try to touch as

         16  many businesses as we can. We certainly rely on our

         17  partners, not only the Zone Coordinators, but also

         18  the bides that you had mentioned.  Like anything

         19  else, we have limited resources with regard to how

         20  much marketing materials that we can, that we can

         21  put out there.  But, --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  All right, well,

         23  I mean, we're not going to sit here and belabor it,

         24  but it seems to me that it must be one, it's either

         25  people don't know or they're daunted.  But, one way

                                                            29

          1  SMALL BUSINESS AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  or the other, there must be businesses out there

          3  that could be benefitting and they're not.  That

          4  seems to me, as you do your transition meeting with

          5  your successor, I think that should be a real goal.

          6                 On the, the other facet of this, it's

          7  my understanding that there are businesses that have

          8  left the City to go to other places  --

          9                 MR. HUM:  Yeah.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  --  That are

         11  eligible for Empire Zone benefits in their new

         12  homes.  If I understand it, they need City Council

         13  approval here  --

         14                 MR. HUM:  That's right.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  --  For that.

         16  And, meanwhile, businesses have come into the City

         17  from other counties also, they need home approval

         18  from their home counties  --

         19                 MR. HUM:  That's right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  --  That they

         21  left, which they've, by and large, gotten, is that

         22  true?

         23                 MR. HUM:  That's right.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  So, are we, I

         25  mean, I worry that we are kind of endangering the
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          2  ability of businesses that move in here to get

          3  benefits because other counties in the state will

          4  feel like we're not engaging in reciprocity and

          5  respecting them.  Is that, am I right to be worried?

          6                 MR. HUM:  There, you have a right to

          7  express concern, absolutely.  There, as of September

          8  of last year, we do know that there are five

          9  businesses that have moved out of New York City and

         10  were moving into areas outside of the City that were

         11  Empire Zones, that are Empire Zones.  In order for

         12  them to receive the Empire Zone benefits, they have

         13  to receive what's called a Shift Resolution from the

         14  home county or home locality. Those businesses were

         15  not successful in getting any Shift Resolution and

         16  the consequence of that is their inability to tap

         17  into Empire Zone benefits.

         18                 The Shift Resolution is a

         19  responsibility of the Council and it's something

         20  that, you know, I have spoken to, at least on a

         21  staff level, with regards to the possibility of

         22  pushing forward  --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Has the

         24  Administration requested this?  I mean, has the

         25  Administration formally, by letter, in any way,
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          2  communicated to the Council the need for this?

          3                 MR. HUM:  I don't believe by letter,

          4  but certainly by communication.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Would it be

          6  possible to do that?  I mean, I feel like that would

          7  kind of kick start the process here.

          8                 MR. HUM:  If that would help,

          9  absolutely.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Okay, I mean, I

         11  just think that if there was a request to go ahead

         12  and do it, I would think that our colleagues would

         13  understand the need to do it.

         14                 MR. HUM:  Absolutely.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  I'd ask you to

         16  look into that.

         17                 MR. HUM:  Yeah, absolutely.  And, you

         18  know, you raised a good point with regards to

         19  reciprocity.  I mean, while we as a state, now I'm

         20  speaking for the Administration, we're sad to see

         21  any business go.  But, equally, any business that

         22  comes in from another locality must receive that

         23  same Shift Resolution from their home legislature.

         24                 I've seen examples of that in my

         25  short time being responsible for the program and
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          2  chairing the various zone boards. I've seen other

          3  localities grant the Shift Resolutions, so that

          4  these companies would be able to tap into Empire

          5  Zone benefits. So, while, yes, we are saddened, you

          6  know, we are, we try to do everything we can  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Right

          8                 MR. HUM:  --  Before that business

          9  leaves.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Have we ever,

         11  have we had anybody move here seek the benefits and

         12  not get the resolution? No?

         13                 MR. HUM:  No.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  All right.  So,

         15  other folks are being good neighbors, so it seems

         16  like we ought to be too.

         17                 MR. HUM:  I would agree.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Yes, okay.

         19  Well, thank you very much.

         20                 MR. HUM:  Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Thank you Mr.

         22  Chair.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Thank you.  No

         24  further questions?  Thank you Mr. Hum.

         25                 MR. HUM:  Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Mr. Anthony

          3  Ceretti please. We're being joined by Council Member

          4  Mealy.  Do you have any written testimony?

          5                 MR. CERETTI:  No, I do not.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay, proceed.

          7                 MR. CERETTI:  Good afternoon and

          8  thank you for this opportunity to come before you to

          9  ask you to please take up consideration for

         10  Regionally Significant Projects in the Empire Zones

         11  Program.  My name is Anthony Ceretti.  I am formerly

         12  with the Empire State Development and a former

         13  Director of the Empire Zones Program for the State

         14  of New York.

         15                 For the last two years and four

         16  months, I've been with KPMG, LLP in their Strategic

         17  Relocation and Expansion Services practice out of

         18  their state and local tax group.  I advise companies

         19  on site selection and incentives throughout this

         20  region and sometimes in other parts of the country.

         21  Our practice is countrywide and worldwide, so we see

         22  a fair amount of corporate comings and goings

         23  throughout regions.

         24                 The Regionally Significant Project

         25  aspect of the Empire Zones Program, as Carl
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          2  mentioned, and I'll be very brief, is very

          3  important.  The localities outside of New York City

          4  fall all over themselves to accommodate businesses

          5  to promote economic development in many ways and so

          6  does New York City, but for Regionally Significant

          7  Projects, the City needs to somehow accelerate the

          8  process.

          9                 The City is burdened more so than

         10  other parts of the state because you have 11 zones.

         11  You have 11 board meetings to do every time a

         12  company in each of those zones wants to get

         13  certified.  So, you have the administrative burden

         14  times 11.  So, I understand that.  So, I'm very

         15  happy to hear that the Council and the

         16  Administration are gearing up to consider this and

         17  to hopefully go forward with Regionally Significant

         18  Projects.

         19                 I will relate to a situation, I

         20  haven't done any Regionally Significant Projects, or

         21  I haven't presented any to the City formally, but I

         22  just did, a couple of weeks ago, call Carl's office

         23  and say I have a potential situation where I have a

         24  business in Manhattan that has a very large tax bill

         25  and is growing my leaps and bounds and they're
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          2  considering where they're going to be a couple of

          3  years from now.  They project that they will add

          4  300, 400 jobs in the next couple of years in the

          5  area of finance.  They're thinking about, you know,

          6  where are we going to do that and do we need to be

          7  here paying what we're paying as far as taxes and

          8  rent is concerned.

          9                 So, I approached Carl's office and he

         10  said that he's just gearing up to present this to

         11  you all and though the decision of the company is a

         12  little bit down the road, I'll tell you that they're

         13  not the only company that is thinking about how

         14  they're going to accommodate growth.

         15                 So, I implore the Council and the

         16  Administration to please get this going, so that

         17  other alternatives are available other than leaving

         18  New York City, for the good of the City.  If you

         19  have any questions, I'd be glad to answer them.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Yes, forgive me,

         21  I didn't acknowledge the presence of my colleague,

         22  David Weprin.  Yes Mr. Chairman.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  I'm sorry,

         24  what's holding them back, exactly?  I mean, what

         25  would be the impediment to this business or business

                                                            36

          1  SMALL BUSINESS AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  like it, but you've got a real live one here, what's

          3  the impediment to them getting Regionally

          4  Significant Project designation?

          5                 MR. CERETTI:  Well, the process of

          6  getting a Regionally Significant Project designation

          7  originates from the locality in which holds the

          8  zone.  In this case  --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  In other words,

         10  they can't, on their own, kind of apply for it?

         11                 MR. CERETTI:  They can, on their own,

         12  apply for it, but they have to apply to the City of

         13  New York, the Local Zone Coordinator that is

         14  contracted by the City of New York, then forwards it

         15  to the Administration and Council for their review

         16  and their consideration.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  So, presumably,

         18  this business, if they decide to stay here, would

         19  and they're going to grow, they would apply.  I

         20  wasn't sure if you were saying that there is some

         21  impediment that would hold back somebody like that

         22  from applying or make it difficult to  --

         23                 MR. CERETTI:  There's no, there's no

         24  impediment, except that the Council hasn't, and the

         25  City, hasn't done one yet and we're hoping that the
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          2  Council will consider and endorse, along with the

          3  Administration, to business that they're open for

          4  business to do Regionally Significant Projects.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Okay.  Well, you

          6  know, I certainly, I echo that and I think that was

          7  the discussion we had with Carl.  I think not just

          8  say we're open for business, but go out there and

          9  actively promote it.  You know, you, obviously,

         10  because of your background, understand this

         11  opportunity, so when you deal with a business, you

         12  can immediately understand it  --

         13                 MR. CERETTI:  Right.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  --  And suggest

         15  it.  I've got to believe that there are other

         16  businesses, but maybe not, you know, add 400 jobs,

         17  but are adding the 50 that are required that aren't

         18  even aware of this.

         19                 MR. CERETTI:  Oh, absolutely,

         20  absolutely.  And there might have been businesses

         21  turned away in the past because the City was going

         22  through a large revamping of the program and the

         23  state was going through a large law change, which

         24  implemented this one aspect in April of 2005.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  So, do you have
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          2  any concrete suggestions or ideas about how we can

          3  or how Carl or his successor can market?

          4                 MR. CERETTI:  To market the program?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Yes.

          6                 MR. CERETTI:  I would say  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  I'd say

          8  accountants is a good idea, I mean, your being here

          9  has made me  --

         10                 MR. CERETTI:  Yeah, I  --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  --  And business

         12  accountants should know about this.

         13                 MR. CERETTI:  Sure.  I would have  --

         14    and the local development corporations, as part of

         15  their contract with the City and with the state to

         16  run the Zones program have to provide outreach to

         17  their local business community.

         18                 When they get the green light from

         19  the City Council and the state that they're ready to

         20  entertain Regionally Significant Projects, as part

         21  of their seminar giving, in which sometimes I'm

         22  asked and other people in this room that are

         23  services providers, are asked to perform for them,

         24  they'll be, hey, even if you're not in the Empire

         25  Zone, now the City of New York will do Regionally
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          2  Significant Projects.

          3                 If you think that you can add, let's,

          4  for instance, in manufacturing, if you think you're

          5  going to add 50 new manufacturing jobs within a five

          6  year time frame, you can be designated as an Empire

          7  Zone.  It's a little bit more complicated than that.

          8    There's a cost benefit analysis that they need to

          9  pass, which is part of state law now.  But, if you

         10  meet that criteria, you have a good shot at being

         11  put into the Empire Zone, which presents an

         12  opportunity for you at the Pfizer plant, if  -- are

         13  they leaving, is Pfizer definitely leaving there?

         14  Okay, I know they were contracting and I think I

         15  remember seeing that, but I wasn't sure.

         16                 If that remains a space for

         17  manufacturing, you know, space for manufacturing and

         18  processing in this City is hard to come by.  So, I

         19  would think that if that's what it's zoned for, you

         20  can offer that status possibility to an incoming or

         21  expanding business and they'll do very well with the

         22  program and it costs the City very little, just

         23  administration.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Thank you.

         25                 MR. CERETTI:  Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  One question.

          3  You were with the state.

          4                 MR. CERETTI:  Yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  The original

          6  Empire Zones were set up for small businesses, am I

          7  correct?

          8                 MR. CERETTI:  The original Empire

          9  Zones?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Yes.

         11                 MR. CERETTI:  In 1987, when the

         12  program started, it was called the Economic

         13  Development Zones Program, which had very limited

         14  tax credits, much smaller than the list of tax

         15  credits available today, to businesses that add new

         16  jobs.  Most of those zones are, all the zones at the

         17  time were located in very urban or very, urban and

         18  distressed areas or rural and distressed areas.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Right.  So, when

         20  I believe the last Empire Zone that was added in

         21  Chinatown?

         22                 MR. CERETTI:  Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Made it 11?

         24                 MR. CERETTI:  That made you number 11

         25  in New York City, yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  They expanded the

          3  criteria from small business to big business  --

          4                 MR. CERETTI:  The  --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  --  Like you have

          6    --

          7                 MR. CERETTI:  Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  --  When you

          9  added finance, you're talking about companies like

         10  AIG Insurance.

         11                 MR. CERETTI:  Okay, I understand  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  You're talking

         13  about Wall Street firms.

         14                 MR. CERETTI:  Yes, yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  How did that

         16  happen?

         17                 MR. CERETTI:  Well, in, in 2001  --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Was that supposed

         19  to happen?

         20                 MR. CERETTI:  Okay, I'll give you the

         21  intent and what I think has been happening.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay, good, very

         23  good.

         24                 MR. CERETTI:  In 2001, or actually

         25  2000, the Assembly, the New York State Assembly
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          2  proposed to ramp up the program and the Pataki

          3  Administration went along with it, as well as the

          4  State Senate, to add a significant amount of power

          5  to the program.  They changed the name from the

          6  Economic Development Zones Program to the Empire

          7  Zones Program and added powerful incentives on top

          8  of what was there.  The intention was to continue

          9  what it was doing, but do more of that, as well as

         10  attract new investment into the state, which means

         11  that small, medium and large companies could benefit

         12  from the program.

         13                 Back in 1998, before the program was

         14  ramped up, I remember that's the year I started with

         15  the state, New York State was listed as number 47

         16  out of 50 states in site selection preference by

         17  real estate directors, corporate real estate

         18  directors, in the country.

         19                 As a result of the Empire Zones

         20  Program, by 2004, I think it was, we went from 47 to

         21  like number eight.  So, that was the intent and a

         22  lot of that happened.  A lot of big, a lot of big

         23  companies decided to expand or locate here instead

         24  of somewhere else because of incentives that the

         25  state was offering. A large amount of those
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          2  incentives were usually Empire Zones.

          3                 For instance, in Saratoga, New York,

          4  AMD, the chip fabrication, the chip manufacturing

          5  entity was looking to site a chip fabrication plant

          6  and they were looking all over the world. Now,

          7  people in site selection know that you don't a get

          8  chip fabrication plant unless, they're so

          9  competitive and states and countries compete so

         10  much, if you don't put a billion dollars on the

         11  table, they're not even going to look at you.

         12                 Well, New York State put a billion

         13  dollars on the table and got that plant and it's

         14  going up in Saratoga as we speak.  So, there's a

         15  perfect example of large business deciding to put a

         16  $5 billion plant with other businesses to come along

         17  with it to supply them in that area, along with

         18  thousands and thousands of workers.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay, thank you.

         20  All right, there being no questions, I would like to

         21  thank you for coming before us today.

         22                 MR. CERETTI:  Thank you very much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:   Mr. Philip

         24  London, Freeman and Davis, LLP.

         25                 MR. LONDON:  Hi.  My name's Philip
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          2  London.  No prepared  --  I, like, I'm a CPA, a tax

          3  partner of an accounting firm, Freeman and Davis.

          4  Like Anthony, we do a lot of consulting with

          5  businesses looking to qualify for the Empire Zone

          6  benefits to help them become more competitive in

          7  their business and we're trying to help attract

          8  businesses into New York City and New York State

          9  through the use of the Empire Zone Program.

         10                 With the cost of doing business in

         11  the City, these benefits may make the difference

         12  between the decision to come here or not.  I know we

         13  have some companies that have been looking into

         14  moving into New York and it's difficult to find

         15  properties necessarily in the Empire Zone, even if

         16  they are bringing in enough jobs to qualify as a

         17  Regionally Significant Project.

         18                 We have a couple of companies that

         19  have found locations in the Zones and they just

         20  received approval for certification at the recent

         21  board meetings and we thank you for pushing the

         22  program forward with Carl's office.

         23                 The problem, one of the major

         24  problems with the Regionally Significant Projects is

         25  that there's a long lead time from the time a
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          2  company makes the decision to the time they have to

          3  start increasing the jobs that are necessary to

          4  qualify as a Regionally Significant Project.

          5                 One of the things that we see as a

          6  barrier to it is that lead time, that once they make

          7  the decision to apply to the state and the state

          8  gives the preliminary approval, local laws have to

          9  be passed and it's the passage of those local laws

         10  that start the tolling of the time to add jobs.

         11                 So, if a company is moving forward

         12  with their expansion project into New York, in New

         13  York City already, or if they're coming in, any

         14  delay in the passage of that local law could

         15  disqualify them in the future from those benefits.

         16  So, that's one of the problems that we see moving

         17  forward with Regionally Significant Projects.

         18                 The other problem is, as Mr. Yassky

         19  said, is that there is not enough knowledge of the

         20  program in my profession, amongst others.  Anthony,

         21  myself and other accounting firms that are familiar

         22  with the Project do speak a lot on the Project, on

         23  the Programs, but it comes down to the local

         24  development corporations exposing the local

         25  businesses to what's available. That's basically all
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          2  I have to say at this time.  If you have any

          3  questions, I'd be happy to answer any.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Mr. Chair.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  I just wonder

          6  if, like I was saying before, a good way to get at

          7  it wouldn't be through business accountants who

          8  come, you know, they're going to be, they're coming

          9  into daily contact or whatever, regular contact with

         10  businesses that might be eligible.  The LDCs, which,

         11  you know, the ones I know do a terrific job  --

         12                 MR. LONDON:  They're great.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  --  But it's not

         14  as if they know every business out there and they

         15  have their area  --

         16                 MR. LONDON:  Right.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  --  And there

         18  are plenty of areas that just aren't covered.  So, I

         19  wonder if there isn't a way to kind of reach out to

         20  some, to whatever trade association in the areas of

         21  accountants to make sure that they're aware?

         22                 MR. LONDON:  Well, I know with the

         23  help of Citibank, some time after Labor Day, we're

         24  going to be making a presentation with them to the

         25  New York State Society of CPAs. But, the problem is
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          2  that doesn't, most CPAs may see this once or, in one

          3  client, maybe two clients and it's not a simple

          4  program. There's a lot of layers of administration,

          5  reporting and claiming of the tax credits and

          6  different rules for different credits that most

          7  accountants don't want to take the time to learn

          8  them, so they don't advocate it.  We've been

          9  advocating it now for about 12, 14 years.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Do you have any

         11  recommendations there, by the way, any of the

         12  hurdles or paperwork that can be eliminated or

         13  eased?

         14                 MR. LONDON:  Their tax credits is the

         15  major benefit of the program and it's a question of

         16  meeting all the requirements and the forms.  The

         17  state has tried to streamline it as much as

         18  possible, but the way the law has developed over the

         19  years, the Empire Zone Program was passed in 2000.

         20  It was changed in 2002.  It was changed in 2005.  It

         21  was, there have been minor changes in between.  So,

         22  for each change, it hasn't been retroactive.  It's

         23  only been prospective.  So, you have one set of

         24  rules if you were certified between 2001, before

         25  2002, between 2002 and 2005 and then after 2005.

                                                            48

          1  SMALL BUSINESS AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  So, each one of those layers has a different set of

          3  facts that have to be answered on the forms.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  All right.  The

          5  requirements are what they are.

          6                 MR. LONDON:  Yeah, I mean, we spend a

          7  lot of time learning it and we work with other

          8  accountants quite often to try and help them, but

          9  it's a difficult program.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 MR. LONDON:  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  There being no

         15  other witnesses, there being no questions, the

         16  meeting is adjourned. Thank you for coming.

         17                 (Hearing concluded at 2:30 p.m.)

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            49

          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CHERYL MILLER, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 28th day of June 2007.
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         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          CHERYL MILLER
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          9            I, CHERYL MILLER, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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